No. 47687-8-11 No. 47687-8-11 No. 47687-8-11 2015 AUG 31 PH 1: 23 STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II DIVISION II

1

3

· .

۰<u>، م</u>

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent

VS.

ANDRES SEBASTIAN FERRER

Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY The Honorable Greg Gonzales Superior Court No. 14-1-00656-0

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MARK W. MUENSTER, WSBA #11228 1010 Esther Street Vancouver, WA 98660 (360) 694-5085

A. Procedural History
IV. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY 16
A. The trial court erred in calculating the standard range for the offenses, which should have been found to be "same criminal conduct."
B. Because the trial court erred in calculating the standard range, the entire sentence must be vacated
C. The length of Mr. Ferrer's sentence was "clearly excessive."
V. CONCLUSION25

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases

۰.

1.1

State ex. rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wn. 2d 12, 482 P.2d 775 (1971) 16 State v. Adame, 56 Wn. App. 803, 785 P.2d 1144 (1990)...... 17 State v. Anderson, 72 Wn. App. 453, 864 P.2d 1001(1994) 18 State v. Chambers, 176 Wn. 2d 573, 293 P.3d 1185 (2013)......21 State v. Davis, 174 Wn. App. 623, 300 P.3d 465 (2013) 17 State v. Dunaway, 109 Wn. 2d 207, 743 P.2d 1237 (1987) 17, 19 State v. Edwards, 45 Wn. App. 378, 380-82, 725 P.2d 442 (1986)......17 State v. Elliot, 114 Wn. 2d 6, 785 P.2d 440 (1990) 16 State v. Ferguson, 142 Wn.2d 631, 15 P.3d 1271 (2001)......22 State v. King, 113 Wn. App. 243, 54 P.3d 1218 (2002)......17 State v. Lewis, 115 Wn. 2d 294 .302, 797 P.2d 1141 (1990).....17 State v. Parker, 142 Wn. 2d 182, 937 P. 2d 575 (1997)......21 State v. Ritchie, 126 Wn. 2d 388, 894 P.12d 1308 (1995)25 State v. Taylor, 90 Wn. App 312, 950 P.2d 526 (1998)...... 17 State v. Wilson, 136 Wn. App. 596, 150 P.3d 144 (2007) 19, 20

Statutes

RCW 9.94A.585 (4)	
RCW 9.94A.533 (4)(b)	
RCW 9.94A.533 (3)(b)	
RCW 9.94A.535 (2)(h)(ii)	
RCW 9.94A.589	
RCW 9A.46.020	1

RCW 9A.36.021 (1) (a) and (g)1	
Rules	
CrR 3.5	

.

ł

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in calculating Mr. Ferrer's offender score to be 2.
- 2. The trial court erred in concluding that the assault charge and the harassment charge were not the "same criminal conduct."
- 3. The length of the exceptional sentence was "clearly excessive."

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Where the conduct constituting felony harassment and assault in the second degree took place at the same time, and location, and involved the same victim, did the trial court err in concluding they were not the "same criminal conduct" for purposes of calculating the standard sentencing range? (Assignments of Error 1 and 2)

2. Where the trial court incorrectly calculates the offender score, must an exceptional sentence based on the faulty offender score be vacated?

(Assignments of Error 1 and 2)

 Assuming that the trial court correctly calculated the offender score and standard range sentence, must the sentence be vacated because the length of the exceptional sentence is "clearly excessive"? (Assignment of Error 3)

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

Appellant Andres Ferrer was charged on May 7, 2015 by a third

amended information with assault in the second degree, RCW 9A.36.021

(1) (a) and (g) and felony harassment, RCW 9A.46.020.¹ CP 103. A hearing under CrR 3.5 was held on the first day of trial, May 11, 2015.

Judge Greg Gonzales presided over the trial which commenced on May 11 and concluded on May 13, 2015. The jury returned verdicts of guilty on both counts, and found by way of special verdict that the two crimes were committed within the sight or sound of the victim or defendant's minor children. CP 69-70, 72-74. The jury also returned a special verdict indicating it relied on the "substantial bodily injury" prong of the assault charge rather than the "strangulation" prong. CP 71.

The case proceeded to a sentencing hearing on May 22, 2015. The court entered the findings of fact and conclusions of law from the CrR 3.5 hearing. The court determined that standard range for the offense was 12–14 months based on its determination that the assault charge and harassment charge were separate criminal conduct. The prosecutor asked for an exceptional sentence, based on the aggravating factor found by the jury that the case involved domestic violence and had occurred within the sight or sound of the couple's children. The prosecutor suggested an additional year was appropriate for each of the three children, for a total enhancement of 36 months, and a total sentence of 50 months. The court adopted this sentence of 50 months. CP 78. Mr. Ferrer filed a timely notice of appeal from the judgment and sentence. CP 94.

¹ Previous charging documents filed in this case after the initial information had added several counts, but all arising out of the same transaction. CP 1, 13, 47.

B. Trial Testimony

ł

. ..

. .

Kristina Ferrer and Andres Ferrer were married in 2010 but separated in March of 2014. In the spring of 2014, she planned to divorce Mr. Ferrer and had prepared the paperwork for it, but had not told him yet. RP II 333-34.² They had two children together. She had a daughter by a previous relationship, Autumn, who was 18 by the time of the trial. RP II 218.

On March 22, 2014, Kristina was still living in their family home, which the couple had agreed to sell. RP II 288. Mr. Ferrer came to the house that day to do some repairs which were required for the pending sale. RP II 289, 334; RP IV 625. She went to a barbecue with her two daughters, Ava and Sylvie, ages 2 and 3 at the time of the incident. Autumn called her while she was at the barbecue to let her know that Mr. Ferrer had been back at the house since she had left. RP II 291.

When she came home, she could not get in through the garage so she called Autumn to open the door from the inside. Autumn helped her carry the younger girls upstairs because they were asleep. RP II 293.

She covered them up and then looked around the room and some things were missing. One of their daughter's baby pictures was missing, so she looked into the closet to see if Mr. Ferrer had taken out his own things. RP II 294, 338-339. There are two clothes bars, upper and lower, so for

 $^{^2}$ The verbatim report of proceedings is in five volumes, numbered continuously. The volume number will be used in citation for the court's convenience.

a person to fit in the closet if it is closed he would have to crouch down. To her surprise, she saw Mr. Ferrer squatting in the closet. She yelled at him because she was startled. RP II 339. He looked crazed and angry. RP II 294. He asked her angrily where she had taken the children. She told him they had been to the barbecue with her. He jumped up at her. He pushed her down on the bed. He started punching her with his right hand. He asked her if she wanted to die. He put his hands on her neck. RP II 297. He was strangling her. She could not breathe. Her head was pounding. She lost control of her bladder and bowels. RP II 299. He again asked her if she wanted to die, or told her she was going to die. She was able to get up. He was "chest bumping" her as he guided her to another part of the bedroom. He pushed her down to the floor and started punching her again on the left side of her head. He was intermittently strangling her, also with his right hand. RP II 301, 305. When he was doing this she could not speak or breathe. There was a pounding or throbbing in her head. Her vision was affected. RP II 302. Mr. Ferrer repeated over and over that she was going to die. RP II 303.

• 1

. ..

She was able to get up a second time. The couple's toddler girls were screaming and crying by this time. They were afraid. Mr. Ferrer said to one of the girls, "this is the last time you will see Daddy, Ladybug." He told Kristina, "Try to divorce me and you'll die." He walked down the hall, smashing the glass on photographs as he went, saying, "The next time I see you, you are dead." RP II 307-308.

Kristina did not smell alcohol on his breath, and he appeared to be steady on his feet. His speech was not slurred. RP II 306-307. She did not recall telling the police later that she had smelled alcohol on his breath. RP II 352. As he went down the hall, she got her phone and called 911. RP II 309. The recording of her call was played for the jury. RP II 310-314.³ From the timing of her call, and that of her daughter Autumn, who initiated her own call as soon as she heard her mother crying out, it can be inferred that the incident lasted about three minutes. RP II 237, 309.⁴

. . .

. . .

When the police arrived, Kristina had not changed her pants, which she claimed to have soiled. She did not show the police officer the condition of her pants, either. RP II 315-16. She gave them a written statement. RP II 316. She had plenty of time to tell them what had happened, but did not tell them about losing control over her bowels and bladder. RP II 348. When describing what had happened, she did not tell Officer Alba that she had been strangled. RP II 351.

The next day, Kristina talked with Andres' mother Claudine, and his sister Virginia about what had happened to her. She did not tell either woman that she had been strangled. RP II 357-58.

Kristina had headaches over the next few weeks. She had bruising on her neck which developed over a 2–3 week period after her encounter

³ There does not appear to have been a transcript made of the tape from its original. The transcriptionist has attempted to reproduce the dialog as well as possible from the CD of the trial.

⁴ The time stamp on Autumn's call was 11:14 PM. The time stamp on Kristina's call was 11:17, when the incident was already over.

with Mr. Ferrer. She did not go to work during this period. She also had problems with her vision for a few weeks, but these were not still ongoing at the time of the trial. RP II 320-21, 327. She also lost a dental crown, which she believed was attributable to the incident, but this was eight days after the incident. RP II 324, 354-55. The prosecution introduced several photos of the bruising, taken at different time intervals after the incident. RP II 325-326, Supp. CP _____ (Ex. 40, 42, 43, 44). She also wrote out a second statement for the police. RP II 328.

• •

. .

Kristina testified she believed Mr. Ferrer when he said he would kill her. The court sustained an objection to the prosecutor's question about whether factors other than the events of that night made her take the threat seriously. RP II 329. Without objection, she testified that she did not want Mr. Ferrer to be able to find her and had moved to an undisclosed address. RP II 330. She was being escorted out of her work place. She was still afraid Mr. Ferrer would kill her.⁵

Autumn Crawford is the daughter of Kristina Ferrer. She was 18 at the time of the trial. Appellant Andres Ferrer is her step–father. He had lived in the family home since she was in sixth grade, but she never thought of him as a father figure. RP II 217, 218. She never liked him or had a good relationship with him. RP II 269.⁶

⁵ The date of her testimony was about 14 months after the date of the incident.

⁶ Mr. Ferrer testified that their relationship was good until she became a teenager. RP IV 622.

On March 22, 2014 she was playing with an X–box in her room when she heard Mr. Ferrer come in. RP II 223. He looked surprised when he saw her. RP II 225. After a while she heard his car leave. RP II 224. After he left, she noticed the internet connection was not working. RP II 226. She called her mom, who told her to replug the router, because this had happened before. RP II 226; 335–336. Later than night, she heard some rustling noises and decided to lock her bedroom door. RP II 227. When Kristina arrived home, she called Autumn because she could not open the garage door. RP II 227. Autumn went to the garage and unlocked it for her mom. RP II 228. Her mom asked her to carry one of her younger sisters, Sylvie, who was sleeping, upstairs. She put Sylvie on the bed in the bedroorn. RP II 229–230.

. . .

. ..

From the hallway outside of the bedroom, Autumn saw Mr. Ferrer come out of the closet. His demeanor was threatening. He was asking where his kids were. RP II 230–31. She did not see Mr. Ferrer make any physical contact with her mom. RP II 233. Autumn went downstairs. She heard banging and screaming. She called 911. RP II 23. She made the call from downstairs and then went outside because she was afraid Mr. Ferrer would hurt her, too. RP II 234. When he came outside he told her to check on her mom because she might be dead. RP II 234. He was yelling at her from 20 feet away. RP II 280–81. He did not try to interfere with her call to the police. RP II 279. He left on foot, pausing to put on his shoes, RP II 278.

She went inside to check on her mom. RP II 236. Her mom was sitting on the bed crying and holding her sisters, who were also crying and upset. RP II 236- 237. She went downstairs to lock the door, called her aunt, and waited for the police. She filled out a written statement for the police. RP II 244-45. The tape of her 911 call was played for the jury.⁷

. ..

. .

Autumn was asked to describe the effects the incident had on her mom. Her mom had bruising on her neck and there was some swelling which lasted for about a week. RP II 266. Since the incident her mom seemed more afraid. Autumn and her mom moved out of the house. Her mom seemed scared for her life and for her kids' safety. RP II 267.

Dr. Crina Crisan treated Kristina Ferrer on March 26 at the Urgent Care clinic. Her patient told her that she had been assaulted by her husband four days ago. Her symptoms included headache, dizziness, neck pain and seeing spots. She also had an upset stomach and anxiety symptoms. RP II 369.

On examination, the doctor observed that she was bruised on the left side of the neck, and the left external ear. RP II 370. Dr. Crisan told the jury that bruises go through several coloration stages from reddish purple to bluish or brownish, and then green/yellow and finally to normal coloration. RP II 372.

⁷ Defense counsel noted his previous objections to this call, which had been discussed with the trial court earlier. RP I 49-51;60, 67-68; 70-71.

After an extensive offer of proof outside the presence of the jury, RP III 377-411, the doctor diagnosed Ms. Ferrer as the victim of physical assault, with anxiety, bruising on the neck, and headaches. RP III 415. Her symptoms were "consistent with" being strangled. RP III 421.

Kristina Ferrer was in no acute distress at the time of exam. She had normal blood pressure. High blood pressure would be indicative of anxiety. Her X-rays were normal. The bruising which the doctor saw was a superficial injury. RP III 428-29. She did not see any injuries like a fingerprint or some kind of bruise that would look like it was left by a finger on Kristina's throat. RP III 430. Kristina's symptom of seeing spots could be attributable to an electrolyte problem, or abnormal blood sugar. Kristina did not mention losing control of her bladder or bowels in the history she gave. RP III 434.

Officer Eddie Alba was called to the Ferrer residence because of a report of a domestic violence disturbance. RP III 456. He made contact with Kristina Ferrer, who was crying and hysterical. RP III 458. Her face was puffy and red. She had a bump on the back of her head and some dried blood on her ear. She showed no signs of intoxication despite having consumed wine at the barbeque she had attended, RP II 288, RP III 459. The officer took several photos to document the condition of her face and neck and ears. RP III 461, 462, Supp. CP 1, (Ex. 9, 10A, 18A, 14, 19). He noted there were broken picture frames and broken glass on the floor. RP III 463. He interviewed Kristina and then asked her to do a written

statement. She had told him that she had smelled alcohol on Mr. Ferrer's breath and that he appeared intoxicated. RP III 489.

He was with her for an hour and was standing within 3 feet of her. RP III 486, 490. He never got the impression from that contact that she had lost control of her bladder or bowels. She did not mention losing control of her bowels or bladder. RP III 490. She declined any medical treatment. RP III 486. Because Kristina had not mentioned anything verbally regarding strangulation, he referred the case for evaluation as an assault in the fourth degree. RP III 486. He then called Mr. Ferrer and left a message on his cell phone because he did not answer. RP IV 469.

Andrew Hamlin, a Vancouver police officer, was assigned to do the follow up investigation. RP III 496, 498. He took additional photographs of Kristina's face. He felt she had obvious discoloration and obvious bruising, RP III 501, and offered his opinion that some of the marks on her face were finger marks. RP III 505. He acknowledged that the marks he attributed to finger pressure could be caused by blunt force, and that prolonged or severe strangulation would be more likely to leave marks. RP III 505, 507.

Sandra Aldridge, also a police officer, took some additional photos of Ms. Ferrer's face. EX. 26, 27, 31 and 32, Supp. CP 1-2; RP III 513-14. She considered it unusual to have marks "this severe". RP III 515. She also took Exhibits 50-53, which were photos of Kristina's face taken the same day as the other exhibits. RP III 521, Supp. CP 2.

Erik Anderson, another Vancouver police officer, met with Kristina at her house. He asked her to come to the Domestic Violence office the next day and give a second statement about the case. RP III 528. He was present when the photos were taken by Sandra Aldridge. RP III 530. He also attempted to contact Mr. Andres, but was unsuccessful. RP III 532. He gave his opinion that the injuries which Kristina had suffered to her neck were not caused by falling. RP III 540.

. ..

Steve Donahue, another Vancouver police officer, testified about his interrogation of Mr. Ferrer when the latter came to the police station to surrender himself. RP III 592.

Donahue testified that Mr. Ferrer told him that he got upset after argument with his wife, with whom he was going through a divorce.⁸ Then he went to his sister's house on Hayden Island and started drinking. He went back to his house and hid himself in the closet to wait for his wife. He suspected his wife might be seeing someone else and he wanted to see if she brought someone home with her. She found him in the closet. They were yelling at each other. He got in her face. She pushed him away. He shoved her onto the bed and hit her on the head several times. Then he got up to leave. He broke some picture frames on the way out and then left. RP IV 596-97. Donahue testified that Mr. Ferrer said he gets enraged and upset when he drinks, RP IV 598, but he was not showing any signs of

⁸ Mr. Ferrer testified he was served with divorce papers while he was in jail, so he had not told Office Donahue that he was in the midst of a divorce. RP IV 668.

intoxication when they talked. RP IV 600. He was cordial, cooperative and forthcoming when they talked. RP IV 602. Their conversation was not tape recorded. RP IV 603.

. 14

100

After the state rested, Mr. Ferrer testified in his own behalf. He is a fire alarm technician. RP IV 620 . His marriage to Kristina was going well until 2014 when they decided to separate. It was primarily his decision. RP IV 622-23, 674.

The couple had agreed to sell their house. Because they worked at different hours, they split custody of their children, Ava and Sylvie. There was no formal parenting plan in place. RP IV 674.

Mr. Ferrer was doing repairs on the house to comply with the inspection which was done on the house as part of the sale. RP IV 625. On March 22, 2014, he came to the house on four occasions. On the first trip, he saw his wife but not Autumn. RP IV 628. She told him the kids were at their aunt's house. RP IV 628. He was sorry not to be able to see them. He went to Lowe's to get things for the repairs. When he got back, no one was there. He did some work in the crawl space, then looked into a roof repair issue but it was too close to the edge for him to attempt. RP IV 631-633.

He went back to Hayden Island and started to drink. He had not had alcohol in six years. He drank enough to pass out. RP IV 635.

He returned to the house around 6:30 or 7 in the evening. Only Autumn was there. He started gathering some of his things. He left the house to go back to Hayden Island around 8 PM. RP IV 636.

٩.

Because Kristina had not responded to his texts during the day, he went back to the house again to talk with her about where the kids had been. RP IV 638. He also had a concern that she was seeing someone else. RP IV 639, 675. He did not park his car in the driveway because he thought she would not come into the house if she saw it, and he would not be able to talk with her. RP IV 669-70. No one was home when he arrived around 10:45. He did not hear the TV or the X–box, so he just sat in the living room for a while. RP IV 641.

He wanted to talk with Kristina, but he panicked. He did not want her to know he was there, so he decided to hide in the closet in their bedroom. RP IV 642-644. The doors of the closet are solid and cannot be seen through. RP IV 647-48. He heard her voice in the bedroom and then she opened the closet door. RP IV 651. He was embarrassed and scared. RP IV 652. She was very angry. She demanded to know what he was doing there. She was yelling. RP IV 653.

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