RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

I. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it
determined that the assault and harassment were not the
same criminal conduct since the objective intent of the
crimes was different. 

II. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it

imposed an exceptional sentence based on the finding
that these were aggravated domestic violence offenses

that were committed within the sight or sound of the
victim' s three minor children.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Andres Ferrer was charged by third amended information with

Assault in the Second Degree' and Harassment — Death Threats for an

incident occurring on or about March 22, 2014 with his wife Kristina

Ferrer. CP 10- 11. Each charge also contained a special allegation that the

crime was one of domestic violence and the aggravating circumstance that

the crime occurred within sight or sound of the victim' s or the offender' s

minor children. CP 10- 11; RCW 9.94A.535( 3)( h). The case proceeded to

trial before The Honorable Gregory Gonzales, which commenced on May

11, 2015 and concluded on May 13, 2015 with the jury' s verdicts. RP 197- 

819. 

This count alleged " strangulation or suffocation and/or ... did recklessly inflict
substantial bodily harm." CP 10; RCW 9A.36. 021( l)(a), ( 1)( g). 



The jury found Ferrer guilty as charged,
2

to include the aggravators

and the trial court sentenced Ferrer to an exceptional sentence of 50

months based on those aggravators. CP 69- 74, 78- 87, 91; RP 815- 18, 864- 

66. Ferrer fled a timely notice of appeal. CP 94 . 

B. FACTUAL HISTORY

Kristina
Ferrera

and Andres Ferrer began dating in 2008, got

married in 2010, and had two daughters together, but by January of 2014

the couple had separated with Kristina taking the family home while

Ferrer stayed with his sister. RP 287, 289, 621- 23. By that time, Kristina

and Ferrer' s daughters were two and three -years -old. RP 228- 29, 287. 

Kristina had another daughter from a previous relationship named Autumn

Crawford, who had turned 18 -years -old by the time of the trial. RP 218- 

19, 288. 

On the evening of March 22, 2014, Autumn was at the family

home while Kristina had taken her younger daughters to a friend' s

barbeque. RP 222, 289. At some point, Autumn unexpectedly ran into

Ferrer who was at the home removing some items. RP 224- 25. She then

2 On the Assault in the Second Degree conviction the jury was a unanimous yes on the
substantial bodily harm" alternative and not unanimous on the " strangulation" 

alternative. CP 71. 

3 For clarity purposes Ms. Ferrer will be referred to as Kristina. No disrespect is intended. 
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believed that he had left because she heard his car leave the house. RP

223- 25. 

After Ferrer left, Autumn noticed that the internet was not

working. RP 225. When she went into the room where the router was

located she noticed that the power cord had been unplugged from it. RP

226. Autumn also called her mother, Kristina, after Ferrer left because she

wanted to let her mother know that he was gone and to ask why he was

there in the first place. RP 226, 291- 92. At that point, Autumn thought she

was once again home alone, but heard some rustling, which scared her and

caused her lock herself in her bedroom. RP 227. 

Ferrer, meanwhile, had returned to the home. RP 596- 97, 638- 39. 

At around 10: 30 p.m., he parked his car somewhere down the street

because he did not want Kristina to see that he was at the home and

thought she would not come in the house if she knew he was there. RP

639, 669- 70, 679- 80. Ferrer then walked to the home and let himself in

utilizing a punch code on the outside of the garage. RP 640-41. 

Ultimately, Ferrer would make his way into Kristina' s bedroom, crouch

down, and hide in a closet. RP 642- 44, 675. 

Kristina left the barbeque around 10: 30 or 11: 00 p.m. and arrived

home sometime after 11: 00. RP 289, 291- 92, 335. When she returned



home, she could not get inside because the garage door was not working. 

RP 292- 93, 336. She called Autumn to assist in getting the door open and

Autumn noticed the garage door was set to lock on the inside panel. RP

227-28, 272, 292- 93. It was abnormal for the garage to be locked. RP 293. 

The two little girls were both asleep in Kristina' s car so Kristina and

Autumn each grabbed one, carried them up to Kristina' s bedroom, and set

them on the bed. RP 228- 29, 273- 34, 292- 93, 336. Next, Autumn ran back

downstairs to unload some groceries from the car and headed back up

towards her mother' s room. RP 230- 31. 

Kristina, still in her bedroom, noticed some things were missing to

include a picture of one of her daughters. RP 293- 94. She opened the

closet to see if anything in there was gone when she saw Ferrer squatting

in the bottom of the closet with a crazed and angry look on his face. RP

294, 338- 39. Ferrer said to her " where did you take my kids bitch" and

popped out of the closet, jumping at Kristina. RP 295. Kristina described

his demeanor as pure anger. RP 295. Autumn had made it to the hallway

outside of the bedroom when she saw Ferrer jump out of the closet, 

yelling, and threatening Kristina. RP 230- 31. She immediately ran

downstairs, but could still hear Ferrer yelling, some banging, and her

mother' s screams, which she called " screams of terror." RP 232, 267. 

Autumn quickly called 911. RP 232- 34. 
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After Ferrer jumped out of the closet he asked again about where

Kristina had taken the kids and she told him she had taken them to a

barbeque. RP 295. He began pushing her towards the bed by chest

bumping her, but then grabbed her, pushed her onto the bed, grabbed her

around the neck, started punching her, and asked if she wanted to die. RP

296, 340- 41. This woke up the girls, who were still on the bed, and they

began to scream and cry. RP 304- 05. Ferrer next got on top of Kristina, 

with his hands around her neck, and began squeezing and intermittently

punching her. RP 297- 99, 301, 341. Kristina could not breath, started to

see stars, have tunnel vision, and "felt her head pounding. RP 298, 341. At

this point, she lost control of her bladder and bowels and Ferrer once again

asked her if she wanted to die. RP 299. 

Kristina began pushing back and made attempts at shielding her

girls from the attack. RP 299- 300, 341. She managed to get to her feet, but

Ferrer pushed her to the floor and delivered more punches to her head. RP

300- 01, 342. Ferrer returned to strangling Kristina who was again having

trouble breathing and having vision problems. RP 301- 02, 342. She feared

she was going to die. RP 307- 08. The attack continued, but when Kristina

was able get herself back to her feet, Ferrer finally stopped. RP 303, 305. 

He then turned on the light, turned to the girls, and said: " this is the last

time you' ll see Daddy. Sorry ladybug." RP 307. Following that statement

5



he said to Kristina, " try to divorce me and you die" and then walked out of

the bedroom, into the hallway, and punched the pictures and picture

frames that lined the hallway leaving shattered glass on the ground. RP

307- 08. Before leaving, however, he looked at Kristina and said " the next

time I see you, you' re dead." RP 308. Kristina believed him and called

911. RP 307- 09. The jury got to hear that call as well as Autumn' s. RP

309- 14. 

As Ferrer exited the home, he saw Autumn outside and on the

phone with 911. RP 234, 279, 663. He told her that she " better go check

on your mom. She might be dead." RP 234. Ferrer walked towards the

street while Autumn ran inside to check on her mother. RP 236- 37. She

found her mom crying and holding the kids who were also crying. RP 236- 

37. When the responding officer arrived and made it inside the home he

found Autumn crying and afraid, and went upstairs to find Kristina and

two children on the bed crying hysterically. RP 457- 58, 466. He also

noticed Kristina' s face was puffy, and red, she had a bump on the back of

her head, and dried blood coming out of her ear. RP 459. 

Following the attack, Kristina' s head was swollen, she had

headaches, bruising and bleeding in an ear, and severe bruising on her

neck and the side of her head. RP 317, 369, 513- 15. The bruising on her



neck developed over two and one half to three weeks and was

photographed by police as it progressed. RP 320, 499- 02, 513- 15. One

officer explained that the bruising was unusual in its severity while

another testified that based on his training and experience the bruising on

the neck was consistent with fingers. RP 505, 513- 15. Aside from the

headaches, Kristina complained that she suffered from jaw and neck pain, 

as well as vision problems for a couple months after the assault. RP 321. 

She had to take four weeks off work. RP 320. 

Attempts to contact Ferrer after the incident were unsuccessful

until he turned himself in the next night at a police station. RP 591. The

officer who would end up talking with Ferrer that night was told that

Ferrer was there wanting to turn himself in for an assault the night before. 

RP 593. Ferrer explained to the officer that on the day of the attack he was

at the house talking with Kristina when she said something that upset him. 

RP 596. He told the officer that he went back to his sister' s house

following that encounter but returned to Kristina' s house when she was

not home, entered the house, and hid in a closet in the bedroom to wait for

her to return home. RP 596- 97. Ferrer thought he could catch Kristina

returning home with another man. RP 597. Ferrer told the officer that

when Kristina opened the closet door they yelled at each other, he got in

her face, and she pushed him, which enraged him and caused him to push
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her onto the bed, get on top of her, and hit her on the head a couple times. 

RP 597, 686. He also told the officer that he broke the picture frames in

the hallway, left the home on foot, and was very sorry for what had

happened. RP 597- 98. 

Ferrer testified at trial, confirming that he parked his car away

from the house so that Kristina would not know he was in the house, 

entered the house knowing Kristina was not there, hid in the closet in her

bedroom, that following her discovery of him in the closet he punched her

multiple times, and that the two young children were in the room during

the entire altercation and were crying. RP 638- 80. He would also try to

explain that he was at the house because he wanted to talk with Kristina

about the kids and where their relationship was going at that point, that he

was " shocked and hurt and ... scared" when Kristina found him in the

closet, that he acted in self-defense when he punched Kristina because she

was the aggressor, and that he had to continue to hit her because he could

not get away from her and felt trapped in the room. RP 638- 80. He denied

strangling her. RP 658. 



ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it

determined that the assault and harassment were not the
same criminal conduct since the objective intent of the

crimes was different. 

When a defendant is convicted of two or more crimes the

sentencing court " may enter[] a finding that some or all of the current

offenses encompass the same criminal conduct." RCW 9. 94A.589 ( 1)( a). 

A finding that the offenses did not encompass the " same criminal

conduct" will be reversed by an appellate court only when there is a clear

abuse of discretion or misapplication of the law. State v. French, 157

Wn.2d 593, 613, 141 P. 3d 54 ( 2006). In addition, when a party to an

appeal is the respondent and seeks no affirmative relief that party is

entitled to argue any grounds supported by the record to sustain the trial

court' s order." State v. Bobic, 140 Wn.2d 250, 259, 996 P.2d 610 (2000); 

RAP 2. 4( a), 5. 1( d); State v. Mclnally, 125 Wn.App. 854, 863, 106 P. 3d

794 ( 2005) (" The State is entitled to argue any grounds to affirm the

court's decision that are supported by the record.") 

A court will consider two or more crimes the " same criminal

conduct" if they: ( 1) require the same criminal intent, (2) are committed at

the same time and place, and ( 3) involve the same victim. RCW

9. 94A.589( 1)( a). The absence of any one of the prongs prevents a finding

9



of "same criminal conduct." State v. Vike, 125 Wn.2d 407, 410, 885 P.2d

824 ( 1994); State v. Lessley, 118 Wn.2d 773, 778, 827 P. 2d 996 ( 1992). 

Courts " must narrowly construe RCW 9.94A.[ 589]( 1)( a) to disallow most

assertions of same criminal conduct." State v. Price, 103 Wn.App 845, 

855, 14 P. 3d 841 ( 2000); State v. Wilson, 136 Wn.App 596, 613, 150 P. 3d

144 ( 2007). If the sentencing court finds that the crimes encompass the

same criminal conduct, however, " then those ... offenses shall be counted

as one crime." RCW 9. 94A.589( 1)( a). 

The relevant inquiry for the [ criminal] intent prong is to what

extent did the criminal intent, when viewed objectively, change from one

crime to the next." State v. Tili, 139 Wash.2d 107, 123, 985 P.2d 365

1999) ( citations omitted). The objective intent of a defendant can be

determined by whether one crime furthered the other. Vike, 125 Wn.2d at

411. Where crimes are " sequential, not simultaneous or continuous," a

defendant is generally deemed to have sufficient time to form a new

criminal intent. State v. Grantham, 84 Wn.App. 854, 859, 932 P.2d 657

1999); In re Rangel, 99 Wn.App. 596, 600, 996 P.2d 620 ( 2000). On the

other hand, a defendant' s criminal intent may not have changed when he

or she engages in an " unchanging pattern of conduct, coupled with an

extremely close time frame" Tili, 139 Wash.2d at 125. 

10



TM and Grantham are instructive. Both cases involved multiple

rapes of one victim in a very short period of time. In Grantham, there was

evidence that Grantham completed the first rape before commencing the

second; that after the first and before the second he had the presence of

mind to threaten L.S. not to tell; that in between the two crimes L.S. 

begged him to stop and to take her home; and that Grantham had to use

new physical force to obtain sufficient compliance to accomplish the

second rape." 84 Wn.App at 859. Based on this evidence, Grantham held

that defendant: 

upon completing the act of forced anal intercourse, had the
time and opportunity to pause, reflect, and either cease his
criminal activity or proceed to commit a further criminal
act. He chose the latter, forming a new intent to commit the
second act. The crimes were sequential, not simultaneous

or continuous. The evidence also supports the trial court's

conclusion that each act of sexual intercourse was complete

in itself, one did not depend upon the other or further the
other. 

Id. In Tili, there was evidence of three separate penetrations occurring

over a two -minute period. 139 Wn.2d at 119. Consequently, Tili

concluded that "[ i] n contrast to the facts in Grantham, Tili's three

penetrations of L.M. were continuous, uninterrupted, and committed

within a much closer time frame -- approximately two minutes. This

extremely short time frame, coupled with Tili's unchanging pattern of



conduct, objectively viewed, renders it unlikely that Tili formed an

independent criminal intent between each separate penetration." Id. at 124. 

Here, when objectively viewing the facts usable at sentencing, 

Ferrer' s objective intent was different with respect to each count. First, 

there is no persuasive evidence that one crime depended upon the other or

furthered the other. As the trial court correctly reasoned, " Mr. Ferrer' s

objective intent in assaulting Ms. Ferrer was to harm her, to establish some

bodily injury not to legitimize the threat to kill.... [ A] lthough the conduct

was similar one crime was not — or did not further the other." RP 857- 58

The evidence supports this conclusion as it shows that, like the

defendant in Grantham, Ferrer had the time and opportunity to pause, 

reflect, and either cease his criminal activity or proceed to commit a

further criminal act. This is exemplified by the fact that Ferrer, after

terminating his attack of Kristina, turned on the light in the bedroom, 

turned to one his young children, and said: " this is the last time you' ll see

daddy. Sorry ladybug." before turning back to Kristina and saying " try to

divorce me and you die" and then walking out of the bedroom, into the

hallway, and looking at Kristina while he said " the next time I see you, 

you' re dead." RP 307- 08. The above shows that Ferrer formed a new

criminal intent to put Kristina in fear that she would be killed in the future. 

The trial court specifically made such a finding when it held that "[ t]he

12



Assault II was completed before the last threat was made. The Defendant' s

intent at that time shifted from placing Ms. Ferrer in ... apprehension of

imminent fear during the assault to placing her in apprehension of future

harm by making the last threat. RP 857.4

Thus, because Ferrer, after attacking Kristina, could have stopped

there rather than threatening to kill her in the future, the assault and the

harassment were